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To Ted Sorensen, who inspired me to work for a president, and Stu Eizenstat, who gave me the chance to do so.






PREFACE

Whenever I interview an author who has written a book about George Washington or Abraham Lincoln, my first question is always “Why do you think the world really needs another book on this president?”

Someone interviewing me about this book might, fairly, ask the same type of question: “Why does the world really need another book on the U.S. presidency?”

There are plenty of books on the presidency. What I wanted to do with this one, however, is to provide some hopefully unique insights into the accomplishments, failures, personalities, and characters of many of our best-known presidents, through interviews I have conducted with many of these presidents’ biographers and with some of the presidents themselves.

My hope is to remind readers how truly different our presidents have been in their backgrounds, personalities, goals, and perspectives, and how these differences can really shape, for the good or bad, the country and the world. Although a president is just one person, an entire country (and indeed the world) can be moved in one direction or another by what that one person decides.

And thus, I would like readers to think about the significance of the decision to vote, since about a third of eligible voters do not even vote in presidential elections.

In June 2024, as this is written, the differences between the two main candidates for president—Presidents Joe Biden and Donald Trump—are stark. And the country is likely to go forward in vastly different directions depending on who wins the election. A small number of votes in a few of the “swing” states can decide the election.

Every American has a real interest in how the country proceeds, and those eligible should exercise their right to vote, and in doing so exercise the right that so many Americans have died protecting for almost 250 years.






INTRODUCTION

For the past hundred years, the position of the American presidency could well be argued to have been (and continue to be) the single most important position in the world.

Despite its importance, most Americans seem to know a good deal less about the position—its history, strengths, and weaknesses—and about the 45 individuals who have held this position—and who have thereby played a major role in shaping the United States and the world—than might be desired by an informed citizenry.

As the country approaches its 250th anniversary, a worthwhile goal for America is for citizens to learn more about the country’s history and government, including the position that has become the central one in the U.S. government in so many ways: the presidency. I have tried, through interviews with living presidents as well as scholars and journalists on particular presidents, along with my own perspectives on the office and personal experiences with it, to contribute toward this goal of providing a better understanding of our presidency.

Over the last few years, in public speeches and interviews, I have often said, obviously tongue-in-cheek, that my career path—private equity—is humankind’s highest calling. In truth, the U.S. presidency deserves that appellation—an incredibly difficult job done in the service of the country and, in many ways, large parts of the world.


The Presidency of the Last Century

When President Woodrow Wilson went to Paris in 1918 to negotiate the treaty designed to end the Great War, he was received with public adulation and acclaim that exceeded anything even Julius Caesar experienced upon returning to Rome after a conquest.

In that moment, the world saw for the first time just how large a colossus the U.S. president had become on the global stage. That stood in stark contrast to when Thomas Jefferson walked by himself—no security, staff, or family—from his boardinghouse to his first inauguration. What was once intended by the Founding Fathers to be a position heading one of three essentially equal branches of a republican government had clearly become, by Wilson’s tenure, the most powerful office on the planet, with its occupant seen as the undisputed leader of the Western world.

That larger-than-life presence shrank not long after Wilson came back from Paris. He was unable to get his beloved creation in the treaty, a League of Nations, approved by the Senate, despite a train tour throughout the country designed to develop public support for the concept. During that railroad trip, Wilson suffered a stroke, which, when followed by at least one more severe stroke, essentially ended his visibility (and viability) as president, as he became a complete recluse at the White House during the remainder of his second term. Wilson’s wife, Edith, acted as his eyes and ears and essentially became the de facto president.

Wilson was succeeded by the charming but ineffectual (and less than honest) Warren Harding, who died in office and was followed by the most laconic and low-key of American presidents, Calvin Coolidge. He was succeeded by Herbert Hoover, who had an impressive and global reputation as a gifted engineer and public servant; but the Great Depression ultimately overwhelmed him, and he came to be seen as a helpless, if not clueless, leader in dealing with the Depression. So the office of the American president was no longer seen as the behemoth it had once seemed when Wilson entered Paris.

And then came Franklin Delano Roosevelt, stricken by polio in midlife, not considered much of an intellect by his peers, and indeed widely viewed as an effete, born-to-the-manner patrician still heavily influenced by his domineering mother. But, in time, Roosevelt, like Wilson, became larger than life, due to his reinvention of what the federal government could do to get the country out of the Depression. And by serving an unprecedented third term, during which Pearl Harbor occurred and the U.S. fought and largely won (by the time of his death) the greatest war the world had ever seen, Roosevelt clearly surpassed Wilson as the undisputed leader of the Western world, reinstating the position of the American president.

Roosevelt’s death brought the relatively unknown, though quite decisive, Harry Truman into the White House, a turn of events few had once imagined as possible and even fewer thought desirable (including his mother-in-law). While Truman has in recent years come to be appreciated by scholars, he left office with a low approval rating; indeed, the man who made the bold, historic decision to drop two atomic bombs was not seen during his tenure as a larger-than-life figure. Maybe a bit of a smaller-than-life figure.

Truman was followed by the hero of D-Day, Dwight D. Eisenhower. Despite the worldwide acclaim that Eisenhower had achieved in his military service, his presidency was, by his design, a low-key affair. He was no Douglas MacArthur in his desire for public attention, and he was pleased with serving his country in this role; but he did not seek the glory or fame that he could have readily attained by virtue of his prior accomplishments (or by the unprecedented growth of the federal government’s power from the time of World War II).




In the Public Eye

A fair question might be asked: Why did a man like Eisenhower, who did not relish the limelight, and who had already devoted his life to his country, want to be president? And indeed, it might well be asked, why would anyone want to be president? Just look at what has happened to presidents over the past hundred years. Hoover was blamed for the Great Depression and decisively lost his reelection bid. Roosevelt died in office at 63, his health no doubt harmed by the considerable pressures of the job. Truman left office after deciding not to seek reelection (his approval ratings having gone as low as 22 percent). Kennedy was assassinated. Johnson was largely driven from office by the unpopularity of the Vietnam War. Nixon was forced to resign. Ford survived two assassination attempts and was defeated for reelection. Carter was defeated for reelection. George H. W. Bush was defeated for reelection. Clinton was impeached. George W. Bush fought two unpopular wars and was barely reelected. And Trump was impeached twice, lost his reelection bid, and was later indicted multiple times by the very government he once led.

Three presidents since World War II who were reelected left office with no lasting damage to their personal reputation: Eisenhower, Reagan, and Obama. But Eisenhower will likely be remembered more for his pre-presidential reputation, having led the D-Day invasion and winning the war in Europe. While Reagan almost died because of an assassination attempt early in his time in office, he later also had a major scandal—the Iran-Contra affair. His staff had illegally sold weapons to Iran, using the profits to fund the contra forces against the leftist government in Nicaragua, and for a few weeks at least it was not clear if his reputation could ever recover from it. However, Reagan did survive because the public didn’t think that he paid enough attention to details to have actually known what was happening. And he ultimately left office with relatively high approval ratings.

Obama may be a rare president who came to office with a comparatively unknown public reputation and left with an enhanced public reputation (hard-core Republicans notwithstanding)—even though he had relatively few epic or transformative accomplishments other than the Obamacare legislation. Obama will always be remembered most for having been the first African American to have been elected president—no small feat in a country where African Americans are about 14 percent of the population and the legacies of slavery and Jim Crow made the election of a Black president seem unlikely.

With few exceptions, the odds of becoming president and emerging after eight years alive, healthy, and with an unscathed reputation are modest. The greater prospect, unfortunately, is that a president will die in office or will leave either disgraced in some way or defeated for reelection—which, while not exactly a disgrace, does impair one’s public reputation and perhaps future effectiveness. (Jimmy Carter spent more than forty years working on global peace and health challenges, won a Nobel Peace Prize, and was generally able to rehabilitate his public image—but it took more than four decades.)

Despite this record, people still line up years in advance to run for president, committing themselves for at least two years to relentless travel, constant fundraising, essentially no family time, often inedible food, reduced sleep and exercise, and the abandonment, for some time, of an existing position or career.

The presidency is the ultimate job in the world that one can hold (and can seek) without having to work one’s way up a ladder over 30 to 40 years. Anyone who is a native-born citizen and is 35 years of age can serve, and the fact that previous long shots—like Carter, Obama, or Trump—made it encourages others to run. The opportunity to be at the center of the universe, with the power to affect the lives of so many fellow citizens and so many individuals around the world, is like a drug, and a normal cost-benefit analysis is thrown aside. And, if one survives the rigors and challenges of the presidency, being a former president can be better in many ways than actually being president—no national responsibilities, popularity tends to increase, compensation (through speeches and books) can be extraordinary, and there is lifetime Secret Service protection.

Traditionally, individuals who have contemplated seeking the presidency tended to have a reasonably well-known public reputation and some level of meaningful accomplishment. Of course, there were always exceptions: Lincoln had only served one term in Congress, was later defeated for the Senate, and outside of the Lincoln-Douglas Senate debates of 1858 was little known in much of the country until he secured his party’s nomination in 1860.

The opening of access to the nominating process in the 1960s and 1970s—making a lack of traditional qualifications less relevant—has made many individuals believe that they could become president by directly appealing to voters. John Kennedy probably initiated that thought process in modern times. Although the son of a wealthy businessman, he was young and relatively unaccomplished as a representative and senator. But he went on the road, built a strong grassroots organization, appealed directly to voters rather than the backroom political bosses (with some exceptions), and managed to capture the nomination and the presidency in what seemed like an almost effortless manner. (His father’s money—there were no spending or reporting requirements then—no doubt helped a great deal. But if a father’s wealth were enough to make one president, there would be more presidents, rather than just one, whose father was a Forbes 400 member.)

The concept of going on the road, taking one’s case to the American voters, and being a force for change in Washington no doubt propelled Jimmy Carter into the presidency. Although he had not been an overly popular governor of Georgia, he did attract a fair amount of national attention for being a New South governor. Reelection was not then permitted in Georgia, and thus Carter, with no reelection prospects, considered his future political options and thought a long-shot run for president was not so ridiculous. He had met others who were thinking of running and he felt he was as competent as all of them, if not more so. And what was the downside? His peanut farm and warehouse businesses were not going anywhere. So Carter began the ultimate bare-bones campaign, surrounded by a group of young Georgians, and developed a novel concept—running as someone who was not from Washington (and not a lawyer), who was not part of the Watergate mess in Washington, who could bring the South back into the Democratic Party mainstream, and who would change Washington in a way that only a true outsider could do. And it worked. He essentially won the Iowa caucuses and the New Hampshire primary, and the rest is history.

Since then, every fresh face in the political world thinks he or she can do what Carter did. And some have. Obama is the best example. But Trump essentially had the same idea—a fresh political face with business experience who could clean up the Washington “swamp.” And Trump’s march toward the nomination in 2016—anticipated by virtually no one at the campaign’s outset—worked almost flawlessly, despite campaign staff infighting and Trump’s at times incendiary comments and unusual behavior.

That someone with no government experience could get elected does show the problems of a system where anyone can run and traditional qualifications are not really a prerequisite. On the other hand, my sense is the American people like to believe that any person has a chance to rise up and run (in part because of the “American Dream” mythology), and that the American people should have the widest possible selection of candidates.

The job does not come without its challenges. Congress might be controlled by another party. Even if not, Congress may well not support a president’s programs. Foreign leaders are no longer as willing to follow the U.S. lead on geopolitical and military matters. The job has health risks—aside from possible assassinations, every president seems to age considerably—and that is not surprising, for they have to deal with the toughest problems, the ones that cannot be solved by anyone else in the government.

And the press exposure, especially with the advent of around-the-clock television news, the internet, and social media, essentially means that every mistake is magnified and transmitted instantly around the world. The minute-by-minute exposure to the media, and thus the public in the U.S. and around the world, places so much pressure on a president that it is a wonder anyone really wants the job. But we’re lucky that some talented people still strive for the highest office.




A Lifelong Interest in the Office

My first memory of hearing about a president directly was Eisenhower. I was born in 1949, and I am not sure if my memory is accurate, but I vaguely remember watching what must have been the 1956 Republican National Convention on a small black-and-white television in our modest row house in Baltimore. I realized, even then, that the U.S. president was an important person—maybe the most important person.

In a few short years came John F. Kennedy, the charismatic, handsome young senator from Massachusetts, candidate for the 1960 Democratic nomination, and a person that my blue-collar, dedicated Democratic parents thought was the ideal candidate. I was delighted when he won, and followed my sixth-grade teacher’s instructions to watch the inauguration. School was even closed for the occasion. I am not sure that I honestly recognized Kennedy’s inaugural address as the most eloquent of the twentieth century at the time, or a model of speech craftsmanship the likes of which we have not really seen since. But the day after the inauguration, my teacher took two hours to go through the speech line by line, and I got it—this was truly a masterpiece of oratory.

Perhaps the memory of “Ask not what your country can do for you, but what you can do for your country” is what led me several decades later to want to work for the man who helped to author that speech: Kennedy’s former special counsel, Ted Sorensen, who later became a partner at a New York law firm, Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison. And I did precisely that in 1973 upon graduating from the University of Chicago Law School. (My admiration for Kennedy has remained: since then, I have served for fourteen years as chairman of the John F. Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts in Washington, the living memorial to our 35th president. I have also been deeply involved with the Kennedy School at Harvard, serving as its capital campaign chair and longtime chair of its executive council. And I have been a large donor to the John F. Kennedy Presidential Library in Boston, as well as to the organization started by Jacqueline Kennedy, the White House Historical Association.)

The Kennedy speech and Sorensen experiences focused my interest in pursuing a career in government, though not in politics as a candidate (I didn’t have enough charm, good looks, money, or self-confidence for that). After two years with Paul, Weiss, where I quickly concluded I was not going to be a great corporate lawyer, Ted Sorensen helped with a recommendation, and I got a position as chief counsel for a Senate subcommittee being chaired by Senator Birch Bayh of Indiana, who was about to launch his presidential campaign in 1976. Disappointingly, Bayh dropped out five months later, after poor showings in the Democratic primaries, having joined the campaign too late to attract the required field and fundraising talent. Yet this brief taste of being around a presidential candidate (even on his Senate staff) made me think about actually joining a presidential campaign.




Inside the White House

In a lucky twist of fate, Milton Gwirtzman, a friend of Senator Ted Kennedy and Ted Sorensen, asked if I would be interested in interviewing for a position on the general election policy staff of Governor Carter. Carter was seen as the likely Democratic nominee, defying almost everyone’s expectations, given his long-shot, shoestring campaign. As noted earlier, he was a one-term Southern governor, who had no national profile at his campaign’s beginning, when it was widely viewed that Southerners could not lead the Democratic Party ticket. It was generally believed they would not be able to sufficiently juggle their state political bases with the more progressive views of Northern Democrats.

I interviewed with Stu Eizenstat, a lawyer from Atlanta and former speechwriter in the Lyndon Johnson White House, who had been Carter’s principal (really only) policy advisor during the Democratic primaries. I got the job. The two of us and the other policy staff that Stu hired were all twenty- and thirty-year-olds with some Capitol Hill experience (almost all had more than I did), and we had a single-minded view—not really shared by Carter—that he could win the election by having well-reasoned policy positions and papers (written by us) to support his programs.

The outcome is now known: Carter won the election, but barely. Had just a few states (i.e., Texas and Hawaii) voted differently, Carter would have lost the Electoral College vote (he won the popular vote by just 50 percent to 48 percent). Had the election gone on another week—Ford was surging toward the end—it was widely thought by many independent observers that he could have won. A one-term Southern governor, not all that popular in his own state, had defeated an incumbent president and was going to the White House. It was actually harder for me to believe that I was going to the White House, the place that our presidents from John Adams onward had lived.

Normally, many of the winning presidential campaign staff members wind up drifting over to the White House staff, though it is typically supplemented by more experienced policy professionals or distinguished citizens. Carter had a novel idea: instead of waiting until he was in office to put together this team, he did so during the campaign (and used precious campaign funds to support the effort). Designed to enable him to govern from day one, his pre-election transition team would have thought through the various policy decisions he would have to make as president early in the term. But this transition team was not designed to include many campaign types like me.

In the end, Carter’s two closest campaign advisors—his chief of staff, Hamilton Jordan, and his communications advisor, Jody Powell—convinced Carter not to dismiss the campaign people so readily, because we were not just political types but also had credentials qualifying us for government service as well. For instance, my boss Stu Eizenstat had worked in the Johnson White House. Stu was my ticket to any White House position, and ultimately he was tasked to run domestic policy in the postelection transition effort. But Carter did not actually ask Stu to be his senior White House domestic policy advisor until about two weeks before the inauguration.

Stu then asked me to serve as his deputy, which I was of course thrilled to do—Deputy Assistant to the President for Domestic Policy, at age 27, three years out of law school. Life could not get much better, I thought. A slight problem arose quickly, when Walter Mondale, the incoming vice president, requested that Stu hire Mondale’s domestic policy advisor to be his deputy. Stu said he had already selected a deputy. Mondale suggested then that Stu have two deputies, and he did. Bert Carp, an experienced, Stanford-educated Hill veteran who knew the ins and outs of the Democratic policy world infinitely better than I did, essentially ran the staff day-to-day and focused on policy. I substituted for Stu when he could not do something (often including meetings with the president), helped review various staff papers for him, wrote papers that he would edit or rewrite before they would go to the president, and served as Stu’s eyes and ears in the West Wing, where my office was, next to his. I was probably more interested in the politics of the West Wing and the trappings (and history) of the presidency and the White House than Bert was, and he cared more about the intricacies of the Democratic interest group positions than I did. So it worked—though we did not get reelected, so maybe it did not.

Although I was not that experienced in domestic policy matters, had not known Carter, and was not part of the Georgia clan that was so prominent at the White House, I carved out a role for myself that led to a reasonable amount of impact for a junior White House aide. That was helped by the fact that (1) I was willing to work essentially around the clock (Newsweek ran a story about how I was in the White House so much that the cleaning ladies at night were complaining that they could never get access to my office); (2) I knew Carter’s positions as well as anyone (I had been tasked in the transition with compiling all the positions he had taken during the long campaign—pre-internet, it was not easy to gather all this information—and came to be known as someone who knew the president’s views as well as anyone but his most senior advisors); and (3) my boss, Stu Eizenstat, was also a wonkish workaholic, and he had enormous influence on matters in the domestic arena, and as his deputy, I benefited from his reputation. That said, everything was a team effort; I’m not sure I can cite one thing that I was solely responsible for that helped the country get better. No one at the White House has an idea that gets very far without others weighing in and modifying it somewhat.

The president’s popularity declined a fair bit while in office. We struggled with inflation, unclear presidential directives and policy statements, a fractious Congress (even though controlled by the Democrats, many of whom felt no particular loyalty to Carter), gas station lines, the Iranian hostage crisis (and a failed rescue mission), an intraparty nomination fight from Senator Kennedy, and ultimately the decisive loss to a person whom few in the White House thought the American people would want to lead the country. In our obviously myopic view, Ronald Reagan was an ex-actor who seemed uninterested in most policy matters, and we believed would be seen at the time as dangerously old. (He was 69, which I no longer see as quite so old.)

Early in 1981 within Democratic circles, Reagan was considered way beyond his depth, and it was assumed that he would inevitably falter and the throne would be reclaimed by the next Democratic presidential nominee, one without Carter’s flaws. To those who had worked in the Carter administration, that was going to be Walter Mondale, someone thought to be so different from Carter in approach and personality that the association with Carter would not prevent his election. That, of course, proved to be unrealistic. Mondale struggled to get the nomination, and then lost 49 states (all but his home state) in the general election.

Before all that unfolded, I considered going back into the political world with Mondale, and then going back to the White House in a more senior position when he inevitably won. But I ultimately came to my senses—luck had already struck once. I would have to spend a few years working for Mondale, while also practicing law to pay the rent, before joining his campaign full time; I might not actually get offered a better job than I had already had in the Carter White House; and I was really not likely to become part of Mondale’s inner circle, which was already set with many who had worked a decade or more for him. So I stayed in the private sector, and ultimately left the practice of law to start a private equity firm, The Carlyle Group, that grew to be one of the largest in the world.

Since then, I have still done my best to keep up with what was going on with my great interest, the presidency. I knew reasonably well a great many people who served in the Clinton, Obama, and Biden administrations, and actually came to know those presidents a bit, though I have never been a close advisor to any of them. I also have not made any political contributions to presidential candidates or presidents, trying to be reasonably apolitical in that regard (and to avoid the buying-access criticisms often leveled at wealthy campaign donors). Too, when I later chaired the boards of organizations like the Kennedy Center, the Smithsonian Institution, the National Gallery of Art, and the Library of Congress, I felt it was better to not be seen as political in order to ensure bipartisan support for these organizations, and campaign donations might have foiled that goal.

Through my post-Carter activities, I also came to know a number of Republican presidents. At one point after he left the presidency, George Herbert Walker Bush was an advisor to Carlyle, which primarily meant he made some speeches to investors for us. I found him to be a friendly and gracious individual, and probably knew him better than I knew any of the Democratic presidents. Through him, I met his son, who had briefly served on a Carlyle portfolio company board. And I came to know Donald Trump a bit before he was elected and saw him from time to time while he was president, typically in connection with the Kennedy Center or White House Historical Association matters.

My hope is that my interest in the presidency will be infectious to readers. Since leaving the White House about four decades ago, I have devoted time and effort to honoring the special leadership role that presidents play in our country and the world. For instance, in addition to the Kennedy-related donations, I helped with the funds needed to repair the Washington Monument after earthquake damage, led the efforts to rehabilitate the Lincoln and Jefferson Memorials, supported building the Presidential Library building at Mount Vernon (George Washington’s home), and led the renovation efforts at Monticello (Thomas Jefferson’s home) and Montpelier (James Madison’s home). I have thought that by writing this book, I might help educate readers about the presidency, and thereby incent them to vote in presidential elections. As with my previous books, the interviews that I conducted—with leading presidential scholars and journalists and with presidents—have been edited for length and clarity and updated in consultation with the interviewees.

Finally, to some extent, I suppose my lifelong interest in the presidency is due to my pride in being an American. The presidency is perhaps the most visible, regular symbol of the country. Like many others from modest circumstances who have lived the “American Dream,” I feel that achieving what I have been able to do would not have readily happened in other countries—because this country encourages upward mobility as part of its ethos, and because my last name would probably be a bit of a barrier in some other countries (particularly in the countries from which my forebears came, Ukraine and Russia). We still have work to do to make this country more equitable and a beacon to freedom for all. But the progress toward that goal is more realistic in this country than almost any other.

David M. Rubenstein

June 2024








1 DOUGLAS BRADBURN on George Washington


(1732–1799; president from 1789 to 1797)

When the Constitution was being drafted in Philadelphia in 1787, perhaps the greatest debate involved representation in Congress. Should it be by population or by state? Should enslaved people be represented in some way, and how? Should there be two legislative bodies (as in England) or just one? These issues were resolved with equal representation in the Senate and representation by population in the House, with enslaved people being counted only as three-fifths of a white person for representation purposes.

That the shape and nature of the legislature was foremost in the mind of the delegates is perhaps best illustrated by the fact that the legislative branch of government is in Article One. The discussion over how the chief executive position would operate and function—contained in Article Two—received a fair bit of discussion. The delegates did not want a king, queen, or an aristocratic figure, but instead someone who was elected, and whose powers could be checked, if necessary, by the other two branches of the federal government.

During the Convention, there were more than a few heated discussions about the powers and authority of the chief executive, to be called a president. But there probably would have been much more debate had it not been widely accepted that the first president would be none other than the man who presided over the Convention, the hero of the Revolutionary War—George Washington.

After the Convention and the ratification process, Washington was really the only person considered for the presidency. He was not universally admired during the Revolutionary War, when he lost more battles than he won, in part because he had insufficient troops and ammunition. By the war’s successful conclusion, Washington became godlike, and was the one person whom all thirteen states seemed to feel comfortable supporting for president.

But Washington was reluctant to serve. He had left Mount Vernon for eight years to fight the war, and he allowed himself to be persuaded to attend the Constitutional Convention—and to help with the ratification process—yet he wanted to stay out of further public service. Neither his father nor grandfather had lived past 50, and he was already 55.

Washington was ultimately persuaded to be a candidate, and he was elected twice unanimously, a record that will surely never be matched again. As president, he established many of the traditions that we still use today. He left office extremely popular as well—a bit of a rare occurrence now.

Had he wanted to, Washington could have been elected to a third term or more. However, he decided eight years was enough. That became the unofficial limit on presidential service until Roosevelt broke it during World War II. (Now a constitutional amendment, the Twenty-Second Amendment, enshrines the two-term limit. Upset that Roosevelt broke the unwritten two-term limit, Republicans worked hard to get that amendment approved by Congress and ratified by the states. Ironically, many Republicans did not like the amendment as much when they realized that Eisenhower could have easily won a third term but was prohibited from seeking it.)

There are a large number of outstanding books on Washington, and it is hard to narrow it to one definitive book that everyone should read. In recent years, one won the Pulitzer Prize—the biography written by Ron Chernow, who has become better known for writing a book on Washington’s Revolutionary War aide and later secretary of the Treasury, Alexander Hamilton. (His book on Hamilton inspired Lin-Manuel Miranda to write his award-winning musical Hamilton.) For this book, though, I decided to interview Doug Bradburn, the director at Mount Vernon, the historic home of George Washington that was purchased by the Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association in 1858 and restored to its current, excellent condition. He is an American history scholar who previously ran the George Washington Presidential Library. I interviewed him on July 5, 2023.



DAVID M. RUBENSTEIN (DR): What is your responsibility as president and CEO of George Washington’s Mount Vernon?

DOUGLAS BRADBURN (DB): I am charged with maintaining the mission of the Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association, which is our corporate name, and the mission is to preserve this estate to the highest standards and educate people around the world about the life, leadership, and legacy of George Washington. I oversee a staff of about 600 employees and 300 volunteers. Our annual budget is around $60 million.

DR: When was Mount Vernon originally built?

DB: The original estate house, the Mansion House, was built in 1734. It was about a story and a half tall, and George Washington expanded it over his time running Mount Vernon in the 1750s, and then into the 1770s. The final mansion was completed by 1789.

DR: For whom is Mount Vernon actually named?

DB: It’s named for an English admiral named Edward Vernon. George Washington’s half brother Lawrence Washington served on the same ship with Admiral Vernon while he was the commander of British forces attempting to conquer the Spanish Main. Lawrence Washington came to greatly admire him, and changed the name of the estate from Little Hunting Creek to Mount Vernon in honor of Admiral Vernon.

DR: How did George Washington come into ownership of it?

DB: Lawrence Washington died, and George Washington started renting it from his widow in 1754. Essentially, he came into full ownership in 1761, when Lawrence Washington’s widow and daughter died.

DR: What was Mount Vernon during Washington’s lifetime? Was it a plantation, a farm?

DB: George Washington’s Mount Vernon was a plantation. It was a combined agricultural business, which had outlying farms producing crops for market as well as mills, distillery, ultimately fisheries. It had multiple economic purposes, all of which were agricultural.

DR: How big was it?

DB: By the time he died in 1799, it was 8,000 acres. When he inherited it, it was 2,200 acres. He expanded it over the course of his lifetime.

DR: Was it a place where the work was essentially done by enslaved people, and if so, how many slaves were there?

DB: Yes, in line with every other eighteenth-century Virginia agricultural plantation, the labor was enslaved. Over the course of his lifetime, over 540 people were enslaved there. When he died, there were 317 at Mount Vernon. When he started at Mount Vernon, there were probably about 70.

DR: What happened to Mount Vernon when Washington died in 1799?

DB: The 8,000 acres were divided up in three ways among different family members. Many of the enslaved people were freed; others moved with the Custis family (the relatives of Martha Washington’s first husband), whom they were owned by.

DR: Who was Miss Cunningham?

DB: Ann Pamela Cunningham was a South Carolina woman of some distinction, that is to say, some wealth, some family recognition, and she was the first regent of the Mount Vernon Ladies’ Association. She created the organization that purchased this place from the last descendants of the Washington family and made it public for visitation.

DR: Where did she get the money to purchase Mount Vernon? How much did she spend on it?

DB: She created the association, which in 1858 began a national fundraising campaign to raise the money. Ultimately, they raised $200,000, which in the nineteenth century was a substantial amount of money. They got it from a variety of sources. It came from schoolkids, it came from volunteer firefighter associations, it came from Masonic organizations. It came from all over the country. It really is the first national fundraising campaign in American history. Together, they used that money to purchase the estate.

DR: Is it still owned by the same organization?

DB: It is.

DR: Does the government currently support Mount Vernon?

DB: No, we do not receive any tax dollars from the federal, state, or local governments. About 70 percent of our annual revenue comes from our business operations of ticket sales for visitors, food sales, or retail sales. The rest are donor-supported funds, which means we have membership programs, people who give generously every year, a small endowment that we draw off of, and we raise money through other means.

DR: How many visitors does Mount Vernon get in a typical year?

DB: Before the COVID pandemic, we got typically a million visitors a year. Last year we had 800,000. This year we’re on pace to beat that. We’ll be back to a million a year very soon.

DR: Do presidents of the United States still visit Mount Vernon?

DB: Absolutely. Twenty-seven presidents have visited Mount Vernon. The last one to come was President Biden. He was here in 2022.

DR: Let’s start with George Washington’s early years. Where was Washington born?

DB: He was born in a place called the Pope’s Creek, which is on a branch of the Potomac River in what’s called the Northern Neck of Virginia. It’s currently Stafford County. He grew up in a place called Fairy Farm, which is right across the river from Fredericksburg, Virginia. That is mostly where he spent his youth.

DR: Who were his parents?

DB: His mother was Mary Ball Washington, who was a woman from a notable Virginia family, although she was adopted into that family, and his father was Augustine Washington, who went by Gus.

DR: Did he have any siblings?

DB: He had two half brothers from Gus’s previous marriage, and then he had three younger brothers and two sisters. One of his sisters, Mildred, died when she was very young. The other one lived a long life. George was the oldest of the second family of Augustine Washington.

DR: What did Washington do in his youth, when he wasn’t chopping down cherry trees?

DB: His youth is still quite a mystery in many ways. His father died when he was 11 years old, and that shaped him a lot because George Washington didn’t get a formal education. His two older half brothers did. They were sent to an English boarding school, the same school that his father had gone to, and so he likely was going to go to that school and get a proper classical gentlemanly education. He didn’t get that. He had reading, writing, and arithmetic from tutors. Essentially, he was self-educated. He became an autodidact. He was reading a lot when he was young. He became a great horseman at an early age. He was out and about in the farms of Virginia quite a bit. Clearly, his great passion in life was farming, so that must have been a big part of his job.

DR: What was he best known for as a teenager or young adult?

DB: I don’t think he was known for much. He had the reputation of a quiet, thoughtful, but very athletic child. We know that he had his “Rules of Civility.” He copied out 110 rules of polite behavior, which, I think, speaks to his desire to know how to behave without a father to guide him in society in nineteenth-century Virginia, which was based on manners. He always had that reputation of someone who was trying to do things the right way.

DR: Was he interested as a youth in joining the British army?

DB: He was. His brother’s experience in the War of Jenkins’ Ear with Admiral Vernon clearly had an impact on him. The army was also a potential route for him, because he really wasn’t going to inherit much property by the standards of Virginia gentry. The British military seemed like the way. His brother thought he should become a midshipman in the Navy, but his mother stopped that from happening when he was 16 years old. One thing his brother did assure is that he learned how to become a surveyor. Surveying is one of the professions you could do as a Virginian to make money and also have the opportunity to do so out West.

DR: How did he get involved with the French and Indian War?

DB: That comes directly through his surveying efforts, because he became the surveyor for the Fairfax interest of Northern Virginia. The Fairfaxes had land in what’s now the Shenandoah Valley, and they were concerned with the Ohio River Valley as well, an area that Virginians claimed. Washington was nominated for a volunteer post by his great patron here, Colonel William Fairfax, to do a diplomatic mission into the Ohio Valley to tell the French there that it was Virginian property and get them to leave. That led to Washington ultimately getting a commission in the Virginia regiment, a regiment that the colony of Virginia raised to fight the French in the Ohio Valley. That was the beginning of his military career.

DR: Was he working for the British or working for the Virginians? What did he do in that war?

DB: He was the commander in chief of the Virginia forces involved in that war. They all fell under British authority, but they weren’t formally in the British establishment, so he didn’t have, for instance, a commission from the king. He had a commission from the colony of Virginia, which was considered by the mainline British army as second-rate. They were sort of the local bumpkins. His role was to defend the frontier. With hundreds of men under his command, he was instructed to defend the frontier from Indian and French incursions.

DR: Did he get captured and almost killed during the war?

DB: He did surrender his first command at the very beginning. It wasn’t an official war yet, so he never really was an official prisoner of war. That was the loss of the Battle of Fort Necessity at the beginning of the war. In fact, he can be credited with helping to start the Seven Years’ War, which, of course, would go on to be fought between the allies of Great Britain and the allies of France. Washington’s early claim to fame is that he started a world war.

DR: Was he not in a situation where he could have been killed?

DB: He was, absolutely. He was often in harm’s way. In fact, famously, General Edward Braddock took a mission out to capture a French fort at what is now Pittsburgh, and that whole expeditionary force essentially got destroyed. Washington was there as a volunteer in Braddock’s military family. He helped with the retreat, and during that battle his horse was shot from under him two times. He had bullet holes in his coat, but he never had been wounded himself in battle. He was in harm’s way quite a bit in the French and Indian War, but fortunately for the future of America he wasn’t killed.

DR: What did he do after the war?

DB: After the war he resigned his commission in Virginia. He was frustrated by his experience in the war, because he never got the recognition from the British military establishment that he craved. They never made him an officer. They never recognized his regiment as a British regiment. He resigned in 1759, and married Martha Washington. It’s a major turning point in his career. He basically thought his military career was over. He was going to focus his efforts on becoming a Virginian businessman, a planter, and a political leader. He went from trying to be a British imperial military figure to becoming a Virginian of renown. By marrying Martha Custis, he was able to do that, because she brought a lot of wealth into his life.

DR: She was married before. Is that where she got her wealth?

DB: She was married to Daniel Parke Custis. The Custis family was one of the first families of Virginia, going back into the seventeenth century. They had massive wealth, not only in land and slaves, which is where most of the wealth was in the eighteenth century, but they even held things like Bank of England stock and British securities. They had real wealth. She, as the widow of Custis, was able to control a third of that wealth until she died. Washington himself was also in charge of the wealth of her children, who would ultimately inherit most of the Custis estate. So Washington was in a prime position to be able to make investments and expand Mount Vernon.

DR: Did he have any children with Martha? Did she have any children before they got married?

DB: She had children from her first marriage. She and George did not have any of their own. We don’t know exactly why. He wrote a letter saying that they were resigned to the fact that they weren’t going to have children. Some historians believe that Washington might have become infertile when he got smallpox in Barbados when he was 19 years old. Either way, George and Martha never had any children.

Martha had two surviving children from her first marriage—a daughter, Patsy, and a son, Jack—who became George’s stepchildren, though Patsy was an epileptic and died at 17. The son went on to have four children of his own. Two of these—George Washington Parke Custis and Nellie Custis—were raised by George and Martha Washington at Mount Vernon. There were children around Mount Vernon, in the family, but they were Martha’s grandchildren, and George’s stepgrandchildren.

DR: How would you describe George Washington’s personality?

DB: He was quite reserved. He had a reputation for being taciturn, and quiet in company. He also clearly was the type who didn’t suffer fools at all. I think he was a commanding presence from an early age. Now, with people who were intimate with him, close friends who’d been around him his whole life, it’s clear that he was much more agreeable. But with strangers he was not one to talk constantly at a dinner party.

DR: Let’s talk about the Revolutionary War. Was Washington very upset with the British imposition of taxes on the colonies after the French and Indian War?

DB: He was. George Washington had three major economic grievances toward the British system. One was the mercantilist system itself, which required Virginia planters to sell all their tobacco through British merchants. They couldn’t sell it anywhere in the world; they couldn’t try to get the highest bidder for it, and they had to go through English brokers. He always thought he was being cheated by that whole system. Then, when they imposed taxes, he felt like it was a double tax, because the system required him to sell his main product through the British and then taxed him to purchase the things he needed from the British. Finally, he had a strong interest in Western land investments. He had land that he believed he earned in the French and Indian War. It was part of the bounties that were offered to him to become an officer, yet the British Empire was denying access to this land. Washington’s grievances against the taxes were part of a broader economic frustration with the constraints placed on him.

DR: Was he involved in politics at that time in Virginia?

DB: He was. He became a leader in the local community. He was a justice for the county court, which was essentially made up of the people who ran the county. He was in the House of Burgesses, which was the main assembly of the colony of Virginia. He was a vestryman in his church, which was in charge of all the poor in the county. Then, when the opposition to Parliament’s taxes started, he was one of the leaders in that opposition. He and George Mason locally drafted something called the Fairfax Resolves, which argued that it was unconstitutional to tax the colonies, and helped create a nonimportation agreement. Because of that, he was very actively involved. In fact, he was ultimately selected to be one of the Virginians to go to the First Continental Congress.

DR: He was at the First Continental Congress in 1774.

DB: That’s right. It met in the fall of 1774, a direct response to the destruction of the tea in Boston in December 1773. The British had passed the Intolerable Acts, closing the port of Boston. That led to the gathering of the first Congress in Philadelphia.

DR: Was he also a member of the Second Continental Congress?

DB: He was, and that’s the Congress that appointed him as the first commander in chief for the American army. The First Continental Congress issued their protests and sent a petition. The Second Continental Congress actually came together after fighting had broken out at Lexington and Concord. They started to become a quasi-government. They took over that army and started to figure out how to support it. That was the beginning of the creation of the American system.

DR: Is it true that he wore his military uniform at the Second Continental Congress, more or less advertising his military background?

DB: He did, yes. It’s an important story. He wore his uniform in part because he had already been named the commander in chief of Virginia’s forces. That was really his expertise. Of all the men of the Continental Congress, very few had any military service. He was certainly in his uniform, and that would have reminded people if they didn’t already know.

DR: Did he want to command the American troops in the Revolutionary War? Who proposed him for that position?

DB: He was proposed by John Adams. Adams was an interesting person to propose him, because the army was largely a New England army. These are the people who had surrounded General Gage in Boston. But Adams wanted to make sure that Virginia was a big part of this cause for independence. He thought, politically, they needed a Virginian, and Washington fit the bill there. Did Washington want to command the troops? I think he would have absolutely wanted some kind of commission, if there was going to be an army. Would he want to be commander in chief? That’s hard to say. He claims he didn’t. That was part of what you were supposed to say. He might have thought he didn’t quite have the background yet to be the commander in chief. None of the forces he commanded in the French and Indian War were bigger than a brigade. Now, all of a sudden, he was in charge of a whole army and the navy and the operations and the strategic planning. It was a daunting effort, and any failure would be placed on him.

DR: Once he got the assignment of commanding all the American troops, what did he do? Where did he visit? What did he wear? Was he a great military tactician? What was his strength as a military leader?

DB: The first thing you do when you’re created a general officer, you go shopping. He went to Philadelphia to get a tent and get all the stuff you need, because he didn’t have any of it. The whole beginning of the army is one of creations. He’s establishing the first way to organize the army, the first way to discipline the army. He doesn’t have any maps when he gets to Boston, he doesn’t have a quartermaster staff, he doesn’t have a proper modern army. The first effort is really to get everything organized, to create some proper logistics to work with Congress.

When we think about Washington’s successes and failures in command, we always have to remember that he is the one who built the whole culture of the American army from the beginning. What is remarkable is that they not only survive but win the war. His strength as a military leader was logistics and politics, and as a strategic leader as well, thinking in broad strokes about how to make sure the cause could survive. Tactically, he had some failures early on. Some people say he wasn’t a great tactician. The reality is, in some cases, his failures had to do with the fact that the people he was commanding were completely untrained. In many of the early losses, he was dealing with an army that wasn’t an army at all, fighting against the British army, one of the most experienced professional armies in the world.

But it’s true there were times he failed on the battlefield. The Battle of Brandywine comes to mind. He didn’t protect his flank, and that’s a tactical failure. He did have some tactical brilliance. He crossed the Delaware, and beat the Hessians at Trenton. He beat the British at Princeton, which Frederick the Great, the great German general, said were the best 10 days in military history. Washington had his moments, but I think his real strength was logistics, strategy, and politics. Did he have troops that were well trained and equipped? No. The United States did not have any capacity to create clothing on any scale, let alone arms and armaments. Gunpowder was always scarce, so the troops, who were supposed to be supported by the states, oftentimes arrived with nothing—what Washington would describe as naked. Over time, the troops got better and better trained, and that’s one of the great successes of Washington’s Continental Army. It did, by the end, become an effective fighting force.

DR: What was the size and armament advantage of the British?

DB: The British army itself, at the beginning of the American Revolutionary War, was fairly modest, about 50,000 troops total. They would expand their establishment to 190,000 by the end of the war. This included a lot of what we call foreign fighters, the Hessians or the German mercenary troops. The British also had the largest navy in the world. It was the most successful and most professional navy in the world, with over 500 ships at a time, when the Americans had none. They had no navy at all.

The American army was never really more than 16,000 to 20,000 in the field at any time. Over the course of the war, over 250,000 Americans would serve in the Army, but never more than 40,000 at a time. George Washington never commanded more than 16,000 healthy troops at one time. For instance, in the early battles at Long Island, when he was trying to defend New York City, he was outnumbered two-to-one by the British. That’s a typical ratio throughout the war.

DR: How many battles did Washington win in the Revolutionary War? How many did he lose?

DB: He fought 17 battles. I think he won 6 and lost 7. There were four draws. Some people argue about the draws. You could claim the Battle of Monmouth was a victory. He lost more than he won, as people famously say, but in war you have to win the last battle, and that was critical. The other great thing about his losses was that they always kept the army intact. He never surrendered it. The Army would oftentimes have these sort of brilliant retreats. Of course, brilliant retreats don’t win a war, but they allowed him to keep fighting until opportunity gave him the chance to make a decisive victory.

DR: Was it so bad at some points that he thought winning was impossible?

DB: He regularly invoked divine authority to help, because he thought it was impossible. It needed a miracle. In fact, he wrote a letter to his brother at the end of 1776, when he was being chased by the British across New Jersey and his army had dwindled from 20,000 to about 3,000 men, in which he said the game was pretty well up. He felt he needed to strike a blow like crossing the Delaware on Christmas night. Otherwise, they would definitely lose the war.

DR: He managed to win the battle at Yorktown. Was it brilliant tactics or the French navy that made the difference?

DB: The French navy made it possible for the combined American and French armies to win at Yorktown, because it kept the British from escaping from the York River and kept them from being reinforced by other British forces. The French navy was there because Washington was working with the French expeditionary force in America. The leader of that force, General Rochambeau, and others were communicating with Washington, trying to figure out how to have a decisive victory. The French navy was going to be in the Capes of the Chesapeake to help contain Cornwallis. What was brilliant about Washington’s role in that siege was his ability to get the Army there without the British even knowing that he had left New York for the first month of the campaign. That was critical, because getting from New York to the outskirts of Yorktown, Virginia, was much more difficult in the eighteenth century than today. It had to be done by land and sea, and you had to bring everything along by hand, by foot, by horseback. It was an incredible logistical success, and a great success of the allies working in concert.

DR: What happened after Yorktown? What did Washington do?

DB: The critical thing Washington did after Yorktown was he kept the Army together. The Army mutinied in Pennsylvania, it complained and almost mutinied in New York, and he was still the commander in chief, who constantly worked with Congress to try to make sure that the troops were mollified, that they were paid, that they were kept under control. After Yorktown the challenge was that it was clear the war was ending, and the Army wasn’t getting paid. They insisted. How do you keep people calm and at peace in that situation? It was a challenge for him, but he successfully did it.

DR: What did Washington do during the two-year period it took to get a peace treaty? Was he just holding down the fort, in effect?

DB: Essentially holding down the fort. He was stationed largely at West Point, at Verplanck’s Point on the Hudson River, on the north side of Manhattan. The British main army was in Manhattan. He was there, making sure they weren’t making any moves to go anywhere else. In the meantime, he was making sure the Army was getting paid and that there was a plan for officers after the war. That came to a head in 1783, when there was a near rebellion of the officers, called the Newburgh conspiracy, which happened at Newburgh, New York. He was able to convince them not to march on Congress and demand their pay. He was able to demobilize that army successfully, one of his first great gifts to the United States after the victories.

DR: At Newburgh, he gave a famous talk to his troops. To their surprise, he took out his eyeglasses, which people hadn’t seen him wear before. What did he say about that?

DB: That was a powerful moment. George Washington came into this meeting of officers unannounced—they didn’t know he was coming—and he told them: you can’t do this, you can’t go to Congress, we have to wait, we have to be patient. Then, to finally try to convince them, he pulled a letter out of his pocket from one of the members of the Continental Congress, and he said: “Excuse me, I’ve not only gone gray but also blind in the service of the country” as he put on these spectacles, which is an incredible true story. He had not before been seen wearing spectacles. That dissipated any kind of resistance to Washington, and it was a great theatrical moment. He was a wonderful performer. He had been there through the whole war, and he had sacrificed as much as anyone, so I think that was powerful and moving.

DR: Let’s talk about the postrevolutionary period. Why did Washington not take over the whole government, as military leaders overseas had frequently done when they won a war?

DB: Great revolutions often end with the army taking over because they haven’t been paid. That’s what Oliver Cromwell did when he kicked out Parliament and became a dictator, because he felt like there was still too much to be done and he was the only one to do it. George Washington had promised that he would give up his commission once the job was done. He was a member of the Continental Congress. He kept his word, despite believing that there was much to be done and that the country was in danger of breaking apart. He did it because he promised he would do it. Ultimately he did it, I think, because he believed that this experiment in self-governance needed to be civilian-led, have popular representation, and not be led by military figures, because the military would ultimately lead to dictatorship and destroy the very liberty they were fighting for.

DR: Where did he say farewell to his troops and resign his commission?

DB: He said farewell to his troops and officers at Fraunces Tavern in New York City, which is still there, one of the rare survivors of the eighteenth-century New York world. He resigned his commission at the State Capitol in Annapolis, which is also still there. You can see him in statue form in that wonderful old chamber at the Statehouse, nicely restored.

DR: What did he do next? How long had he been gone from Mount Vernon at that point?

DB: He resigned his commission and rode to Mount Vernon to return on Christmas Eve. He’d only been in Mount Vernon a handful of days in the eight years of the war, which is really remarkable. Usually eighteenth-century field generals, in the wintertime, go on long furloughs. They go somewhere much more comfortable. Washington had stayed with the troops. If he hadn’t stayed with the army, it probably would have fallen apart, because it was oftentimes desperate to survive. He was finally back at Mount Vernon, and he began turning his attention to his great passion: agriculture. He had not only seen many estates and different ways of farming across North America, but he was also a deep reader of English literature on agricultural reform. He was a man of the Enlightenment. He believed that human beings can improve the world that they’ve inherited, that they can use the latest technologies and techniques to make and do things better. He thought that his major contribution was going to be helping this newly independent country to become the breadbasket of the world, to become an agricultural powerhouse. To do that he thought they needed to reform many practices.

DR: Why was it, at that time, that when the winter came, soldiers would just not fight? They would just stay in their camps. Didn’t anybody attack them in the wintertime?

DB: Winter campaigns were notoriously challenging in the eighteenth century because you didn’t have modern ways to move a lot of troops, or easy ways to feed them and carry resources. Resources were harder to come by. Horses died quickly. In the eighteenth century, traditionally, you didn’t have winter campaigns. Armies essentially hunkered down and tried to get through to the spring. That’s what’s so remarkable about some of Washington’s early winter campaigns, the Battle of Trenton and the Battle of Princeton, when it was almost impossible to move these armies around and be sure that they would still be there when you actually wanted to fight.

DR: At that time, did Washington have any interest in serving further in government?

DB: He did not. He thought his resignation was his big goodbye. His last “Circular to the Governors of all the States” was a political statement—“I won’t be here, but here are the things we should focus on”—and a promise to the public that he would take no more role in any office.

DR: Who persuaded him to get involved with the Constitutional Convention?

DB: A lot of people did. One of the critical figures is James Madison, because he saw that Washington was interested in the future of the country, interested in the West. Washington had land out west. He wanted to figure out what to do with his land. He also knew that tens of thousands of people were moving west of the Appalachian Mountains. He visited, he went out there and saw that it was chaos. He was concerned that they were going to leave the country, and wondered, “How can we make sure that these Westerners are connected to the East?” He believed that the Potomac River, which is closely connected to the Ohio River Valley, could be improved and become a great commercial highway into the West. He created the first corporation in the United States, incorporated in multiple states, called the Potomac Navigation Company, which intended to improve the Potomac River and make it navigable.

To do that, they had to create a special agreement between Virginia and Maryland. It was done at Mount Vernon, and it’s called the Mount Vernon Compact. It’s still in existence today. It’s a treaty between the two states about how to share the river. This was so successful, they said, “We should have another convention next year in Annapolis.” That was a failure, but they said, “Let’s meet again next year in Philadelphia.” The Philadelphia Constitutional Convention came directly out of Washington’s efforts to create the Potomac Navigation Company. Madison and Hamilton were of the opinion that if George Washington didn’t go to Philadelphia, this constitutional convention wouldn’t succeed. It wouldn’t have the reputation to do what it needed to do.

DR: What was his role at the Constitutional Convention?

DB: Washington was ultimately made the president of the Convention, the formal chair. He sat as the chair for almost the entirety of the convention.

DR: Did he speak up much to let others know his views?

DB: He did not. He was very quiet at the Convention itself. He was active outside of chambers. He would often have dinner with different members. He met with the Virginia delegation often. He voted with the Virginia delegation when he wasn’t in the chair. He was not trying to use his influence to shape debate, but it is highly likely, and I think provable in some cases, that he was orchestrating some of the great compromises behind the scenes. In fact, he often had dinner with people who would be the first speaker the next day, at a time when the delegates were starting to figure out some of the great compromises.

DR: Would the Constitution have been adopted without Washington’s support?

DB: I don’t think it would have. It was very controversial. We can just take the example of Virginia. James Monroe said that it was Washington’s interest that carried the day. Virginia almost didn’t ratify the Constitution, even with James Madison there at the ratification convention. Washington wasn’t there in person, but everybody knew he supported the Constitution. In fact, when it circulated in newspapers around the country, it was always with a preamble, which was a letter that George Washington wrote introducing the Constitution and saying that he believed that it was a great opportunity, a great thing.

DR: What did Washington propose at the end of the convention? Did he not talk at the end?

DB: He did talk at the end. One of the things he advocated for was to increase the number of people represented by a member of the House of Representatives, to make it more democratic than it was. Then there were only 30,000 citizens that were represented by one congressperson. Today it’s much more than that. In some ways it’s less democratic in the House than it was.

DR: What did he do upon returning from the Constitution Convention to Mount Vernon? Did he get back into being a farmer?

DB: They were in the process of getting the Constitution ratified. Mount Vernon became a center of political intelligence for the Federalists’ movement to ratify. Washington was regularly sending, for instance, copies of the Federalist Papers around the country to his political allies.

DR: Did he want to be the leader of the new government and just feign a lack of interest? Or did he really not want to be the leader?

DB: This is always hard to get at. I don’t think he really wanted to. I do think he wanted the union to survive and ultimately came to believe that without him in the presidential chair, the union might fail, and that they had a better chance with him, for he had a strong reputation across the United States. For that reason he was the unanimous choice for the first president of the United States, because he had been commander in chief, because he won the war, because he was beloved and popular. That was the deciding factor for him.

DR: Who persuaded him in the end to be a candidate for president?

DB: A number of people. Henry Knox was a good friend from the war. Madison, Hamilton, John Jay, the great jurist from New York—they were all saying, “Without you, this thing won’t work.”

DR: What was the vote for him in the end? Was it close or not?

DB: The vote in the Electoral College was unanimous. In that first election, many of the electors were chosen by assemblies, not by direct ballot from the people, but there were a couple of cases in which it was a popular election that chose the electors. He won unanimously in both his first and second elections.

DR: Where did he move to lead the government?

DB: He had to move to New York. The first place the government met was in New York. As the Constitution called for, one of the first things they had to do was figure out what the permanent seat of the national government would be. That could have been New York, it could have been Philadelphia, it could have been somewhere else.

DR: Was he very popular in the country at that time, because he was the winning general of the war?

DB: He was extremely popular, beloved. When he was going to his inauguration as president, he was greeted by thousands of people, women and men, in parades. They would write poems and songs about him. He was the one indispensable national figure, maybe with the exception of Benjamin Franklin, who probably wasn’t as well-known by the general citizenry as Washington was but was still similarly thought of as one of the fathers of the country.

DR: Who did Washington appoint to his cabinet, and how big was the cabinet in those days?

DB: The cabinet was small. The secretary of war was Henry Knox from Massachusetts, who was great. George Washington had made him the head of the artillery. Alexander Hamilton from New York was ultimately appointed the secretary of the Treasury. Washington had been trying to get Robert Morris to do it. Morris was the great financier of the American Revolution, but he didn’t want to and recommended Hamilton. Thomas Jefferson, a Virginian, was made Washington’s first secretary of state. Edmund Randolph was the first attorney general. He was also Virginian, a former governor of Virginia, and, in fact, had been one of Washington’s personal attorneys in some cases there.

The cabinet was regionally diverse. You had New England, New York, the middle colonies, and the South represented. That was one of the critical things Washington was trying to assure, that the cabinet could represent the geographic diversity of interests in the Union itself. John Adams was vice president, but Washington considered him part of the legislature, not part of the cabinet, because Adams also served as the president pro tem of the Senate. So Washington often kept Adams away from cabinet discussions.

DR: What were Washington’s major initiatives during his first term as president?

DB: The first term was about setting up the government and trying to make sure that it could run. He was also dealing with Native American problems in the West, and also figuring out how to make trade come back with the British. He had to appoint every officer of the country. There was no civil list, there was no civil test, and so he had to make over 4,000 appointments with people all over the United States. He had to appoint all the first Supreme Court justices, he had to get the government up and running. That meant creating the departments of the executive branch that would execute the laws passed in Congress. You had the first patent laws passed during that time, you had a number of lighthouses created. You had the Naturalization Acts to figure out how to naturalize people. You had the Native American policy. The first treaty of the United States was with the Creek Federation in the Southeast, which established peace with the Native Americans in that region for many years. The first U.S. census had to be managed. Then the taxes, of course. One of the critical things of Washington’s administration was Alexander Hamilton’s efforts to establish the credit of the United States. The United States had borrowed a lot of money from Europe and from a lot of Americans. It hadn’t paid any of its bills on time. The full faith and credit of the United States was a nonexistent thing. Interest rates were extremely high, so to establish a proper national debt that could be funded and managed was the major administrative success, I think, of his administration.

DR: Did he enjoy being president? Did he consider quitting before the term was over?

DB: He did not enjoy it. He tried to quit after his first two years. He mentioned that going to his inauguration he felt like a prisoner going to the gallows, which is maybe a little hyperbolic, but it was, again, another challenging role. He had a lot to lose by taking it on. He tried to quit after two years. Thomas Jefferson, Alexander Hamilton, and many others, including his family friend Elizabeth Powel, convinced him the government was too unstable, he couldn’t go anywhere. He wanted to leave after his first term, but at that point, the country started to get really polarized. This major war, the French Revolution, had exploded in the world, and navigating those waters became very treacherous. He was convinced that he was the only one to do it. He did resign after his second full term, even though he could have been elected for the rest of his life, probably unanimously.

DR: What did he accomplish in his second term?

DB: The second term was critical, because he kept the United States out of war. It seems easy to stay out of war, but in fact it was very popular to try to get involved in the French Revolution on the side of the French people. He didn’t want to do that at all. In the second term, he expanded the U.S. Navy. The creation of the first six frigates of the United States Navy was done during that time. The Naturalization Act was critical. He established peace in the Ohio Valley by defeating a coalition of Native Americans who had been receiving support from the British. They had been at war with the United States for a long time.

One thing I didn’t mention about his first term, which is important, is that he traveled to every state in the union. The next president to do that was James Monroe. It helped Washington understand what people thought of this new form of government. As he said, he walked on untrodden ground, and everything he was doing was establishing a precedent. He also understood that this was government based on popular opinion, and he needed to have a way to directly reach people.

During those visits, he also established the role of the presidency as an aspirational voice for what America is about. For instance, on his famous visit to the Touro Synagogue in Rhode Island, he assured the Jews of Newport that they not only would be tolerated, but they had freedom of conscience. They had the right to exercise their religion. Washington advocated over 18 times the principle of religious freedom throughout the country before the First Amendment to the Constitution was passed. As president, he was establishing not only the institutions of office but some of the aspirational values of what it means to be American.

DR: Why is his farewell address so well-known?

DB: The farewell address was circulated widely at the time. Throughout the nineteenth century, it was memorized by school kids and taught in various forms. The Senate still reads it every year on Presidents’ Day. I don’t know if they’re paying attention when they read it, but it’s a critical warning to the citizenry of the United States of the things they need to do to make sure that their great experiment in democracy will survive.

DR: Was it written by Alexander Hamilton?

DB: It was written largely by Hamilton with pieces from Madison that Washington had asked for when he tried to resign the first time. These are themes that Washington had been hammering on his whole life, including a call for a national university, something that Hamilton never supported. So Hamilton is the speechwriter, but Washington is the author.

DR: How much time did Washington put into designing and helping to build the new nation’s capital?

DB: A lot. He was named by Congress the head of the commission that helped create the Federal District. That not only meant laying it out but hiring the architects and picking the plans. Washington laid the cornerstone of the Capitol Building in 1792 in a Masonic ritual, which included a big barbecue. He was associated with the planning and the creation of the capital. In typical congressional fashion, Congress didn’t fund any of the buildings. Washington had to raise money privately to build the Capitol Building and the White House itself. We must be the only great nation in the world whose major public buildings were built through private efforts. To do that, Washington had to sell land, he had to borrow money. He had to get those buildings built, at least started and almost finished, when he was president. Otherwise, it was likely that the capital would never move to what became known as Washington, D.C.

DR: Washington retired after two terms, but he never actually served as president in Washington?

DB: That’s right. He’s the only president never to have served in Washington, D.C.

DR: What did he do upon returning to Mount Vernon?

DB: He once again jumped into his agricultural projects with enthusiasm. He was one of the most famous men in the world, so people were constantly coming to see him and get his advice. But even then he started new businesses. He started a distillery when he came back after the presidency. By the time he died, it was producing over 11,000 gallons of whiskey a year, one of the largest distilleries we can identify at the end of the eighteenth century. He was still very much engaged in business. He was also planning for his own future, and struggling to figure out how to deal with his estate. He’d been trying to figure out a way to free the people he held in slavery for years, which he began in earnest while president. In 1793, he wrote to some English agricultural reformers about his desire to try to figure out a way to emancipate the people he owned. It’s clear that he tried to purchase the people who were enslaved here by the Custis family, whom he couldn’t legally free. That’s a really interesting part of his history, because his reputation was on the line as much as his feelings of humanity.

DR: But in the end, he did free the enslaved people on his property upon his death and was the only founding father to do so, is that correct?

DB: That’s absolutely correct. He freed them in his will, and not only freed them, he provided for education for the ones who were too young to have professional work on their own. He established pensions for the ones who were too old. These pensions were paid out from his estate into the 1840s.

DR: How did Washington die?

DB: Washington died of an infection of the throat. His epiglottis eventually swelled up and kept him from being able to breathe, something like strep throat. It’s not clear when or how he got it. It is clear that the day he felt ill, he had been out on his horse all morning, in the snow and sleet and rain, then came back to Mount Vernon to dine with some visitors in the afternoon, at three o’clock. He didn’t change out of his wet clothes until after that, and that evening he had a sore throat. That was the beginning of the end.

DR: He used a technique that was common then, as I understand it, to let blood out of your veins. Theoretically, bad spirits go away.

DB: Medicine in the eighteenth century was still dependent on the Galenic system, tracing back to ancient Greece. There was an idea of humors that needed to be drained out, and so you bled people to do that. Washington was a great proponent of bleeding, asking to be bled before his physicians arrived. When his physicians arrived, they felt like he’d been bled enough. They did do other things like blister him. They gave him enemas. It sounds like an awful last 24 hours. He wasn’t getting better. He asked to get dressed, get out of bed, then he got back into bed. It was a long death. His final words were “ ’Tis well.” He asked Martha to bring up multiple wills from his study, and asked her to throw the ones he didn’t want into the fire and make sure that the latest will—which is critical, because it’s the will that freed all of his enslaved people—was the one that was recognized as the legal will.

DR: Where is Washington buried?

DB: He is entombed here at Mount Vernon, in a new tomb in a location that he asked for in his will. It is an interesting story, though, because Congress voted to have him entombed at the site of the new Capitol Building in Washington. John Adams wrote Martha and asked if Washington could be entombed there. Her only condition was that when she passed, she’d be able to be next to him. That was the plan. He was going to be moved to the Capitol. In fact, the Capitol vault was a tomb that was built for Washington and Martha, directly underneath the dome, which has that incredible mural of Washington floating up into heaven. He would have been buried in our Capitol. But the Capitol was burned by the British during the War of 1812. Congress later never got its act together. Ultimately, the executors of Washington’s estate would build his tomb here at Mount Vernon in the 1820s and’30s, and he was entombed here then.

DR: Has his coffin ever been open since he was buried?

DB: Between when he was first laid to rest in 1799 in the old tomb here, and then moved to his new location, his coffin was opened. There’s an oral history of a boy who claims that when he saw Washington, he looked as fresh as the day he was buried. Whether or not that was imagined or real, who knows, but it certainly hasn’t been opened since. But I think one of the reasons that Mount Vernon exists today is because he’s here. If the body had been moved to the Capitol, this place would have fallen apart. It’s made of wood. It wouldn’t have been preserved. It wouldn’t be the pilgrimage site that it became because people visited Mount Vernon to pay their respects to the father of their country and his tomb. That’s the reason this place became the birthplace of American preservation. The house itself was kind of an afterthought.

DR: What do you see as George Washington’s greatest legacy?

DB: The great experiment, democracy, the country that we have today is his legacy. Our independence was won by him, with help. He was the first president of the United States. He was an indispensable leader for us, and those institutions that are still governed by the Constitution would not exist without his leadership. The institutions he created are still with us. That’s a basic point. Another that bears talking about is that he gave us a model of republican leadership, that is to say nonmonarchical, noncorrupt leadership based in public service, with leaders who serve the public good and then go back into the citizenry. This is a model that we want our politicians to aspire to. When we complain about our presidents and say they’re not acting presidential, in some ways we’re thinking of the kind of president that Washington established in that office.

DR: Finally, what would you like to ask George Washington? If he were to come back at some point, what would you like to interview him and say?

DB: I have too many questions. As the head of Mount Vernon, I have all kinds of technical questions about how the house looks now, and what kind of wallpaper he had here and there. But aside from that, there are two things I’d want to know. One, who did he want to be the second president of the United States? If he could have chosen anybody, who would he have chosen? Because I don’t think he wanted Adams per se. Nobody had anything against Adams. I think Washington originally wanted Jefferson, but that became untenable when Jefferson became too much of an enthusiast for the French. The question is, would Washington have wanted Hamilton? Did he love Hamilton, like Hamilton claimed he did? Or was Hamilton a useful, powerful figure who would have been a bad president? I don’t know. So I want to know who would Washington have chosen as his next president.

A more modern question would be to understand his attitudes toward slavery and how they evolved over his lifetime. Why didn’t he free his slaves earlier? Was it impossible, was it political? Did he not want to do it? We might need to give him a truth serum first to answer that question.






2 GORDON WOOD on John Adams and Thomas Jefferson


Thomas Jefferson (1743–1826; president from 1801 to 1809); John Adams (1735–1826; president from 1797 to 1801)

If George Washington was the most prominent of the Founding Fathers responsible for the break from England and the successful fight against the British, clearly John Adams and Thomas Jefferson were second and third. But is that the right order?

John Adams, Washington’s vice president and the second U.S. president, was one of the strongest advocates for cutting ties with England at the Second Continental Congress, which ultimately voted on a motion proposed by Richard Henry Lee to split from England. And it was Adams who wanted to have Thomas Jefferson, his junior by eight years, serve on the committee that drafted the explanation for this withdrawal, now known as the Declaration of Independence. Adams later asked Jefferson to draft that Declaration.

To the surprise and consternation of Adams for the rest of his life, the Declaration became the symbol of the break from England. While Jefferson initially thought that the Second Continental Congress had “mutilated” what he had written, he later basked in the glory of the Declaration’s words. And indeed, on his tombstone, he wanted the authorship to be the first of his accomplishments to be listed.

Shortly after the war, cracks began to form in the relationship between these two towering figures of the Revolutionary era, but that did not prevent them from working together as representatives of the United States immediately after the war was won, when the U.S. government, operating under the Articles of Confederation, asked Adams and Jefferson to negotiate various trade and diplomatic agreements while they were both living in Europe. But those initial cracks later resurfaced when Adams and Jefferson served in the government created under the Constitution.

Most visibly, they disagreed on the all-important issue of who should be president. Jefferson served as Adams’s vice president, but then ran against Adams when Adams sought reelection, and—with the help of Alexander Hamilton—Jefferson beat Adams and effectively humiliated him. Adams had thought he was entitled to two terms, like Washington, and could not believe that his once good friend had run against him and defeated him.

That began a long period of estrangement between Adams and Jefferson. They barely had any contact for years. But ultimately, with the help of a mutual friend and fellow Revolutionary-era leader, Dr. Benjamin Rush, these two strong-willed leaders began a correspondence that brought the two historic figures together. And that lasted until they both died on July 4, 1826—fifty years to the day of the Declaration of Independence—an occurrence widely seen at the time as a sign from providence of the unique status of these two men.

The story of how Adams and Jefferson went from good friends to bitter enemies to good friends again was brought to life by Gordon Wood, one of the country’s leading scholars of the Revolutionary era, in Friends Divided, his 2017 book about their complicated relationship. I had a chance to interview this extraordinary scholar at a Congressional Dialogues session at the Library of Congress on February 14, 2018.



DAVID M. RUBENSTEIN (DR): You’re probably the country’s most eminent scholar on the Revolution. What could the British have done to prevent the colonies from trying to withdraw from the Union?

GORDON WOOD (GW): If the British had offered in 1775 what they did as part of the Carlisle Peace Commission in 1778—which would have given the colonists everything they wanted, essentially a commonwealth status with no parliamentary authority over them—that would have undercut the radical position. Those seeking independence would have lost support. Eventually, America was growing so fast in population that there would have been some adjustment in the empire. America’s population had twice the growth rate of Britain’s. We would have surpassed them sometime in the early or mid-nineteenth century, and something would have had to have been done by then. But the actual break could have been postponed if the British had offered earlier what they ended up offering as part of the Carlisle Commission’s proposed peace deal. It was a desperate act by Prime Minister North’s government, which feared an American alliance with France. It was too late.

DR: If they had not withdrawn and there hadn’t been a Revolutionary War, your view is that eventually we would have broken away?

GW: We were so much bigger. Some adjustment would have had to be made, because we couldn’t be ruled by a small island.

DR: As schoolchildren in the United States, we were often taught that King George was a little crazy. Was he crazy or not?

GW: He suffered from a disease—porphyria, it was thought, though some are now suggesting that he was manic-depressive—but he didn’t show any of the symptoms while he was running the war. He was a hard-liner. He was certainly a hawk, and he certainly was the last person to give up. Prime Minister North simply tried to retire, to resign many times. Finally, Yorktown did it and the government fell, and George had to accept the results.

DR: It is often said that George Washington was the indispensable man in the Revolutionary War. If Washington had not existed, would we have won the war? Was he indispensable?

GW: I think if he had died, say, at Brooklyn Heights in 1776, another general would have emerged—someone, maybe Nathanael Greene. But by the time we get to the end of the war, Washington had taken on such iconic status that he seemed almost indispensable. And as president, he was indispensable in the sense that the country could not have held together without his presence. We would have been torn apart sectionally and every other way. He really was indispensable by the time you get to 1789–90. But during the war, somebody else would have emerged. It was very difficult for the British to put down a rebellion 3,000 miles away. We know about that; we’ve tried it in Vietnam. It’s very difficult to deal with situations so far away from your source of supply.

DR: Had we stayed with the Articles of Confederation and not gone to the Constitution, could the colonies have survived with that form of government?

GW: Jefferson’s presidential administration acted as if it was under the Articles of Confederation, with only the addition of the power to levy tariffs. Jefferson didn’t like the new Constitution. He thought that the Articles with the addition of a couple of amendments would be entirely satisfactory, and in effect he governed as if he were under the Articles. In the antebellum period, the federal government was very weak. Except for the delivery of the mail, people didn’t really know that they were living under a federal government. Since all they had were customs duties as indirect taxes, they could scarcely feel the presence of the national government.

DR: Let’s talk about Adams and Jefferson. They both died on July the 4th, 1826, exactly fifty years after the signing of the Declaration of Independence. They died within five hours of each other. What did people say about it?

GW: Most people thought it was providential, and they certainly thought it was too coincidental. It simply was beyond their imaginations. And of course there was a little maneuvering. They knew that they were dying, and they tried to stay alive to make it to the 4th, but they didn’t know—they were 500 miles apart—that each of them was dying on the same day. It was treated by the country as a miracle of some sort, as you can well imagine. It still boggles the mind to think about it.

DR: Jefferson and Adams had a complicated relationship. As history was unfolding, when they both died, who was the greater figure, Adams or Jefferson?

GW: By the time they die, Jefferson is an international superstar. Adams is not. Adams was very jealous of Jefferson. Jefferson had emerged as the author of the Declaration of Independence, and was publicly credited as such, and by the 18-teens, he realized that that Declaration was important to the nation. Indeed, he told his son-in-law to save the desk on which he had written the Declaration. It would become a relic, he said. When he died, he listed on his tombstone “Author of the Declaration” as the first of his three great accomplishments.

Adams is appalled at that idea. Author? He was a draftsman of a committee report! How could he be the author? Poor John Adams never recovered from the acclaim given Jefferson for the writing of the Declaration. He felt that he had given this young Virginian kid the job because he had arrived at the Continental Congress and wasn’t doing anything else in the Congress. Adams was on at least 24 committees and was chairing many of them, including the Board of War—that is, he was managing the war in 1776. It seemed an incidental matter, this drafting of the Declaration, and it contained nothing that was original, as Jefferson himself later admitted. Jefferson said that he simply put down on paper the enlightened conventional wisdom of the day, although he did it with unusual grace. So it’s no wonder that Adams was jealous and upset by the praise Jefferson was getting.

DR: During the Second Continental Congress, when Congress voted to separate from England, on July the 2nd, Adams wrote to his wife. What did he say?

GW: He thought that July 2nd, the day the Congress voted independence, would be the important date and that would be the one celebrated by bonfires and fireworks and so on. Only later did he come to realize that he was mistaken and that the day the Congress accepted the Declaration would be the one the country would celebrate.

DR: When the Declaration was being put together, it was a committee of five people who were assigned to write it. Who were those people?

GW: Roger Sherman (Connecticut), Benjamin Franklin (Pennsylvania), John Adams (Massachusetts), Robert Livingston (New York), and Thomas Jefferson (Virginia). It was distributed sectionally. They wanted to involve each part of the continental United States.

DR: The most famous line in the Declaration, and perhaps the most famous sentence in the English language, is “We hold these truths to be self-evident,” ending with “all men are created equal.” Did Jefferson really believe all men, or people, were created equal? Did Adams believe that? What did Jefferson mean?

GW: Jefferson believed that all men were created equal, except for Black Africans. He voiced his suspicions about the inferiority of Blacks in the only book he ever wrote, his Notes on Virginia, published in the 1780s. But conventional liberal wisdom, enlightened wisdom, shared by most educated people said that all men, including Africans, were indeed created equal. Most enlightened men believed that everyone was born with the same blank slate on which the environment and experience operating through the senses carved out the different and unequal adult personalities and characters that made up the society. In other words, nurture, not nature, was what mattered. Even a slaveholding Virginian as aristocratic as William Byrd believed that all men, even men of different ethnicities and races, were born equal and that, as Byrd said, “the principal difference between one people and another proceeds only from the different opportunities for improvement.”

Even climate was important in shaping people. Some thought that Africans’ blackness came from their skin being scorched by the hot African sun and that their skin would eventually lighten in the more temperate climate of North America.

This emphasis on the environment operating on the blank slates of newborns and working to distinguish one person from another is something that I think we Americans deeply believe in. We put a lot of stress on education of the young, and despite all the modern talk of DNA and genes, we continue to believe that a proper education and the right upbringing can level out the differences between people. No one believed more devoutly in education than Jefferson.

Although Adams as a young man shared the enlightened belief that all were born equal, he came to believe that any talk of equality was hogwash. He ended up believing that we were born unequal and we remain unequal, and he put very little stock in education. He didn’t repudiate education, but he said, it’s not going to make much difference. He delighted in telling people that when he was in Paris he went to a foundling hospital and saw babies who were less than four days old. Some were smart. Some were stupid. Some were beautiful. Some were ugly. He believed in nature, not nurture. So they differed in that fundamental belief.

In that respect, and in others too, Adams took on the American myth that everyone was equal. The other myth he challenged was American exceptionalism. Jefferson created the idea of American exceptionalism. We are a special country, he said. We have a special role, to bring democracy to the rest of the world. Adams thought that Jefferson’s view of American exceptionalism was crazy. We are just as sinful, just as corrupt, just as vicious as other nations, he said. There’s no special providence for the United States. So Adams is odd in this respect. He challenges these myths by which many Americans currently live. It’s understandable why Jefferson is celebrated and Adams is not.

DR: The Library of Congress has Jefferson’s draft of the Declaration. But the copy that was used by the printer, with the corrections or additions resulting from the internal debate on the Declaration, does not exist any longer. Is that right?

GW: Right.

DR: If you go to the National Archives, you see the Declaration of Independence signed in August, not July. The delegates came back and signed it in August of 1776. Later it was fading so much that John Quincy Adams, as secretary of state, wanted everybody to see what the Declaration originally looked like. As a result, 200 perfect copies were made by a printing process that took a lot of the ink off the original. When the New York Times on the 4th of July runs a copy of the Declaration of Independence, what you’re seeing is a copy of a so-called Stone copy, named for Willian Stone, the printer. Now there are maybe 40 to 50 Stone copies left. The original broadside printed after the text was agreed to by the delegates of the Second Continental Congress and given to people in July of 1776 is called a Dunlap copy. Dunlaps were printed on July the 5th and those broadsides were the document sent to George Washington to read to the troops, to each of the colonies, and to King George. (There are about 25 Dunlap copies extant.)

Back to Adams and Jefferson. Let’s talk about their background briefly. Jefferson was from a wealthy family, Adams from not a wealthy family?

GW: Jefferson inherited slaves and land from his father but also many more slaves and land from his father-in-law, so he became one of the wealthiest members of the Virginia aristocracy. Adams was different. He came from a middling background, and the wealth that he acquired came almost entirely from his law practice. He was a very successful attorney, certainly the most successful attorney in Boston by 1770. He was the top lawyer in the colony of Massachusetts.

DR: Who was the better writer?

GW: It depends on what you want to read. Adams’s diary is unbelievably rich and is well worth reading. There is nothing like it from Jefferson. But in their public documents, Adams is turgid and heavy and Jefferson is smooth and graceful. So Jefferson is by far the better stylist in public writings.

DR: Who was the better talker?

GW: Adams. Jefferson was not good at public speaking, and he did not speak in public very often. Adams did, and he was the leading advocate for independence in the Congress. That’s why the two men bonded, because they were both radicals in favor of independence. Jefferson became ill and couldn’t make the First Continental Congress, but he sent a document along that was published without his approval. This Summary View of the Rights of British Americans (1774) became the most radical pamphlet written by any American until Thomas Paine’s Common Sense two years later. So when Jefferson showed up in the Second Continental Congress, Adams knew he had a fellow radical, and one who could write well. They bonded in their enthusiasm for breaking from the British.

DR: At that time, who was more famous?

GW: Adams was by far more famous.

DR: And Adams was roughly seven years older?

GW: Eight years older. He treated Jefferson as a kind of son, a protégé, and Jefferson played that role. That made the friendship work.

DR: The first time they ever met was during the Second Continental Congress. They had never met before.

GW: That’s right.

DR: After the Declaration of Independence is issued and we go to war, what does each man do?

GW: Adams went abroad as a diplomatic commissioner in Paris to try to negotiate peace and also to raise money from the Dutch for the war effort. Jefferson went back to Virginia. He retired, and his Virginian colleagues don’t understand what he’s doing. He claimed that he had to study philosophy. It was more important than public service. But then his colleagues elected him governor to get him back into politics, and his governorship was something of a disaster. He was actually censured by the legislature of Virginia. It’s an embarrassing moment, the most embarrassing moment in his career. So he’s only reluctantly brought back into government while Adams is abroad. When Jefferson’s wife dies, he’s free to go abroad, himself, and he joined Adams in the early 1780s as a commissioner to arrange treaties of trade with the various European states.

DR: Jefferson’s wife dies when Jefferson is 39 years old, and he then goes to Europe. Both he and Adams are in France with Benjamin Franklin. What are they all doing there?

GW: The treaty of peace has already been signed by the time Jefferson gets to Paris. The commissioners had been assigned by the Congress to negotiate treaties of commerce with various states in Europe. The Americans, especially Jefferson, have a very naïve notion of the willingness of European nations to open their borders to free trade and the free movement of people. Jefferson is an enlightened radical. He wants open borders. He wants to do away with monarchy, because monarchs were the source of war and republics were naturally pacific. Although Adams had written the model treaty which the commissioners were supposed to promote, he had become increasingly conservative and doubtful of their mission. “No facts are believed, but defensive military conquests,” he said. “No arguments are attended to in Europe but force.” He would be a hard-liner in the context of our politics now. By contrast, Jefferson was the ultraliberal, dreaming of revolutions overthrowing monarchs everywhere and people opening up their states to everyone.

DR: Under the Articles of Confederation, Adams becomes our ambassador to England?

GW: Not ambassador, but minister to Great Britain, the former mother country. We didn’t have ambassadors until the 1880s. We sent only ministers abroad. We thought the rank of ambassador was too expensive. Having the lesser rank of minister was often embarrassing to our diplomats.

DR: Did King George receive him?

GW: He did receive him. Adams made a wonderful speech about how much he loved England and its constitution. But he told George III that he was now a patriotic American. The king responded warmly, telling Adams that he was impressed by his devotion to his country. Later, Jefferson joined Adams for a little vacation in England, and the two of them attended the king’s court, where we’re told King George turned his back on them.

DR: Jefferson and Adams at that time were close?

GW: Very close.

DR: Ultimately the Constitutional Convention is held. Jefferson and Adams are still overseas?

GW: They’re abroad.

DR: So they have nothing to do with the Constitution.

GW: Except indirectly. Adams in 1776 had written his Thoughts on Government that had a profound effect on the state constitution-making in 1776–77. These state constitutions create separation of powers which barred members of the legislature from holding executive office, the prerequisite for parliamentary cabinet government. Adams believed in checks and balances. In some respects these revolutionary state constitutions are more important than the later federal Constitution, which was derived from them. Adams also wrote an earlier document, the Massachusetts Constitution of 1780, which created a strong senate and a governor who had a limited veto. Adams wanted an absolute veto, but the limited veto that could be overridden by two-thirds of the legislature is adopted by the Constitutional Convention in 1787. So Adams is very important in constitution-making. Although he was not physically present, he had an influence on the people in Philadelphia in’87.
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